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1



Is it Right or Left for England?




At 11 am on 20th March, 1930, we set out on our final hop from Saint Quentin to London on a course setting recommended by our French friend.





Wait. Why a course setting? Did they have no map?


They had no map. A school atlas purchased in Marseilles, but no actual map, no aeronautical chart. Those had run out at Cairo. From Cairo, they’d just followed the coast to Homs where, as later in France, they’d been given a bearing – for Malta. Ditto Malta to Sicily. After that, it had just been a question of keeping the sea to starboard and land to port until crossing over the straits of Messina into Italy, at which point it was the other way round, sea to the left, land to the right. Making their way past Etna and Vesuvius, they had refuelled at Naples then headed north past Rome to reach Pisa where, agog at its leaning tower, they’d spent the night.


After that, easy. Round the Gulf of Genoa and along the French Riviera. At first their intention had been to stop at Toulon but, thanks to a providential change in the direction of the wind, they’d scraped into Marseilles, ‘with both the sun and our petrol gauge well below the horizon’.


Who were these people? Oh, just two young fellows from India – Aspy Merwan Engineer and his friend R. N. Chawla, piloting. Their aircraft? A second-hand de Havilland Moth fitted with a 100 hp Gipsy engine.


What were they up to? As a matter of fact, they were in pursuit of the recently announced Aga Khan Trophy. Or, rather, Aspy was. There was a handsome cash prize for the first Indian national to fly solo from Karachi to London, or vice versa, in under a month. This was a proving flight. Once they’d made it to Croydon, the plan was for Aspy to fly back alone: it was his aeroplane.


But first, there was the matter of getting themselves to England.


From Marseilles they had found their way to Lyon by following the Rhone valley and then headed for Paris. But there the weather had turned and, although they caught a glimpse of the Eiffel Tower through the fog and low cloud, they could not locate the aerodrome at Le Bourget. The thing was, Chawla, who spoke no French, had been shown its position relative to Paris ‘by an obliging Frenchman’, who, for his part, spoke no English. Now that they were in the air – and what with the weather – finding their way proved harder than they were expecting. This is one of the odd things about aerial navigation. Once you are lost, unless you have some obvious visual reference point – such as the Eiffel Tower, although, by now, it was far behind them – it is extremely difficult to re-establish your position. Especially in poor visibility. Moreover, if you are freezing cold and tired from the constant battering of your head by a rain-bearing wind hitting you at 75 mph, if your nerves are shredded from the constant lurching of the aeroplane as it bounces around in the bluster, if your hearing is failing from the unrelenting row of an unsilenced engine such that you can barely hear, and if, on top of all this, you haven’t the faintest idea how much you need to aim off course because of the wind drift, then, in such circumstances, there is every chance that once lost, you will stay that way. So it is quite understandable that RN and Aspy should have decided to put down in a field.


However, no sooner had they landed than:




a very irate farmer arrived from nowhere and proceeded to lambast us. The less we understood him, the faster he spoke. We could gather that we had done damage to his crop but it took us a long time to realise that what really made him furious was the fact that a perfectly good landing strip was located barely six fields away. All we could say in our frozen state was ‘Pardon Monsieur’ and with that we started the Moth and hopped over to what turned out to be St Quentin aerodrome.





St Quentin: an ex-First World War airfield close to the Somme battlefield. Approximately 80 miles north-east of Paris. Oh well, at least they were now within striking distance of England. Three hours next day should see them to Dover via Calais.


Staying at a local inn, they enjoyed ‘a good meal and some excellent French wine’ before turning in for the night, relaxed and ready for the last leg. Early the following morning, they were given a bearing to get them to the coast, after which it was twenty minutes over the water to the White Cliffs – they’d soon be making their way into the history books.


However, just after becoming airborne, they ran into heavy weather with low clouds and strong winds:




At last, we hit the French coast, only by then we were dazed from the cold. After circling the town twice, we were satisfied that it was Calais and England lay only a few minutes away to the west.





But:




Either due to the wind, which was very strong, or a wrong setting of a wrong course, the town was in fact Ostend in Belgium and not Calais in France.





And:




Now the weather was turning really nasty. We were completely frozen and our projected twenty minute crossing began to turn into something quite different and alarming. Instead of the green fields of England we’d heard so much about, all we could see was angry waves below. I could have sworn that it was well over 1½ hours since we last saw land.





Furthermore:




The gravity of our situation suddenly hit us like a bombshell. Here we were, out in a small aircraft, over a dark and angry sea. Instead of finding the British Isles we were flying over an exceedingly inhospitable part of the world. We discussed what could have gone wrong – everything except the very obvious. The fact was, we were far too much to the right and flying over the North Sea.





In the days before GPS, you would find out from the weather forecast the wind speed and direction along your route. You would then use your slide rule to calculate how much you needed to aim off from the bearing you had established by drawing a line on your chart, between your point of origin and your destination. Before reliable weather forecasts were available, however, this was not possible. All you had then was the wind speed and direction at take-off and, if you were able to put a telephone call through to your destination, some idea of what it was doing at the other end. All very helpful except that, before you got there, there was every chance the wind would either have backed or advanced and blown you off course. What you were left with was having simply to follow your progress closely, noting where you were at intervals along your track and, if off course, adjusting accordingly. But if you had no map – well, you really were in the lap of the gods.


So:




To my enquiry, Chawla replied that he had already made a hefty correction to port. By now, he was convinced that the compass had taken too much of the French wine the previous evening.





At least they kept their sense of humour. That was quite something in the circumstances. There being no intercom, they’d have had to have shouted at each other down the Gosport tube.


The problem was:




We had taken off at 11am from Saint Quentin and it was now getting on for 4pm and, once again, our fuel gauge was trying on its disappearing act. We had to make some decision and it had better be the correct decision or else it would be our last one.





Fortunately:




Just then, I spotted a tramp steamer directly below us. Chawla started a series of dives with me gesticulating with my arms. After the second or third attempt at attracting attention, some seamen appeared on deck and waved back to us in greeting. I tried to indicate distress, but in vain. As a final effort, for we could not afford to play this game any longer, I made the letter L for land with my two hands.





But what could this even mean? In the front cockpit of a DH60 Moth, you sit just behind the struts attaching the fuselage to the upper wing. The only way Aspy could have got his message across would have been for Chawla to throttle right back and come alongside the ship at no more than, say, 40 feet above the waves, tipping to starboard while his co-pilot dropped the side-hatch and . . . then what? Touched his elbows together with hands held wide perhaps? Then maybe shrugging his shoulders and waving his arms randomly?


Luckily:




One of the men on deck guessed our predicament and pointed out the nearest land with his right arm and leg.





Semaphore without flags?




This was good enough for us and with a parting farewell and thanks, we turned sharply to port and disappeared in the rain in the direction our unknown benefactor had indicated. Fortunately, we soon struck the coast. We did not know where we were but at least we were now over land. We kept going until again the fuel finally disappeared out of sight.





The fuel gauge on a Moth is actually just a glass tube, mounted at the rear of the tank, in which you watch the level go slowly down. From the moment it vanishes, you have about fifteen minutes of flying time before your engine stops.


So:




I left Chawla to execute the third forced landing of the flight and the fifth since buying the aircraft only a few months back.





They’d made it! Not actually to Croydon as they’d hoped but to Thetford in Norfolk – about as far from Croydon as St Quentin is from Paris, but never mind. Having been put up for the night by a local landowner, they arrived at their intended destination the next day where, rather to their surprise, the two young men found themselves given an elaborate welcome by a reception committee:




the Lord Mayor all dressed up in his striped pants, with tail coat and top hat and his insignia of office prominently displayed.





So this was it.




At last, we had reached here in one piece thanks to some good luck and not forgetting our guardian angels.





All that remained was for Chawla to make his way home by boat and for Aspy to fly back the way they had come, albeit more directly thanks to his belated acquisition of a full set of maps. This he did, duly winning the Aga Khan’s trophy just as his mother had prophesied he would. As it turned out, he beat his nearest rival by a mere two and a half hours. It was a magnificent achievement – an achievement made astonishing by the fact that, on the day he landed back at Karachi, he was not yet half a year past his seventeenth birthday.
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‘You really think you know enough? To build a flying machine?’


A century and more after it first flew, the sight and sound of a de Havilland Moth drifting lazily across an English summer sky uplifts the spirit and stirs the heart. With its unmistakable biplane wing layout and the pop-popping of its Gipsy engine, this iconic aircraft puts one in mind of a kinder, gentler world – of milkmaids and their pails, of horses and carts, of  bonneted spinsters cycling to evensong, of young men on the village green in striped blazers cheering good-naturedly as willow smacks leather spinning to the boundary and the squire, tweedily benevolent, looks on wreathed in port-soaked smiles.


This is completely wrong, of course. It never was like that. The aeroplane drifts slowly only because it can’t go any faster. Those stampeding horses, trapped inside the motor that drags this unwieldy apparatus of wood and fabric and stainless steel about the sky, are at the limit of their powers. Down below, the milkmaid yearns for the day when those newly available milking machines come to her farm. Perhaps then she can swap the stench of cow for the scent of lavender and violets at the cosmetics counter of the department store recently built in the nearby town. As for those spinsters, they feel as doubtful about the Virgin birth as they do about their own virginity and dream instead of entanglements with the men in blazers. The squire is port-soaked all right, but his smiles are at the prospect of an assignation with the young serving girl his wife has just employed.


And yet, is this more cynical view really any closer to the truth? The first flight of Captain de Havilland’s Moth, on 22 February 1925, took place hardly more than six years after the armistice ending the Great War. Fourteen years later, there was to be further conflict. But, in the interval between them, the hope for a better future, not just for the few but for the many, seemed a genuinely attainable possibility. This was true not only in Britain but throughout her empire. At home, domestic and agricultural servitude was in the process of giving way to a democracy predicated on rights for everyone. Votes for women came to those over thirty in 1918 and to the over twenty-ones ten years later. So although the catastrophe of war had shell-shocked society as a whole – and this was compounded by the economic misery that followed – by the middle of the twenties, prices had begun to fall and, while unemployment remained high, many in the emerging chemical, automotive and synthetics industries enjoyed an increasingly high standard of living. For anyone with money, the roaring twenties were a grand time to be alive. Clubs and bars, jazz, cocktails and smoky rooms provided the backdrop to what many came to see as a golden age. This was a time when the weekend country house party became a feature of the social circuit and the controversial birth control methods advocated by Marie Stopes began to find their way into polite society as young females bobbed their hair, shortened their skirts and learned to dance in unseemly ways.


One of the things that helped facilitate this social revolution was the huge upsurge in car ownership, epitomised above all by the Model T Ford. In 1920, there were just under 200,000 cars on the road in the UK. By 1923, the figure had doubled. By 1930, the number would rise to well over a million. It was only natural, therefore, that people began to wonder whether the success of the Model T could not be replicated in the air. As it turned out, that was never a realistic prospect. Although the unit cost of aircraft came within reach of middle-class salaries, they were always expensive to hangar, to maintain and to run. On top of that, learning to fly was a big commitment in terms not just of money but of time. To get the most out of private aircraft ownership, you needed plenty of leisure – not least because the weather was often lousy, making forward planning difficult, if not impossible. Aviation for the masses would have to await the technology that enabled production of large transport aircraft. Yet there was, just for a moment, a sense that light aircraft were central to a coming democracy of the air. This is an aspect of modern social history that has been largely overlooked, but the advent of the Moth, coupled with other astonishments such as Lindbergh’s arrival in Europe following his transatlantic flight, induced a kind of mania for the air that lasted the best part of a decade.


Of all the aircraft in the history of powered flight, it was the de Havilland Moth that came closest to realising the impossible dream of aviation for all. Without question, it is the one in which people had the greatest adventures. And it is the de Havilland Moth that most readily symbolises a world which then seemed so full of hope and possibility – a world where the gulags and the gas chambers lay safely in the future.


The Moth’s designer was the visionary son of an angry and disappointed Victorian parson. Born in 1882, Geoffrey de Havilland came into the world on the cusp of one version of it disappearing and another rising to take its place. That year was the last in which an amateur team won the FA Cup (the Old Etonians beat Blackburn Rovers) and the first in which the English cricket team lost a test match on home ground (to the Australians, inevitably). Six years before, Alexander Graham Bell had patented the first telephone. In 1886, Carl Benz patented the first motor car. Before the young Geoffrey was out of short trousers, Otto Lilienthal made the first of over five hundred controlled flights in a glider. Yet in 1961, four years before de Havilland’s death, Yuri Gagarin had returned safely from his orbit of the earth. There was never an epoch like it. Even in the event that humans attain the ability to travel via teleporter, it is unlikely the psychological impact could be as great as that conferred by the dawn of mass air transportation, which, to a significant degree, was brought into being by this modest and unassuming man.


In his autobiography, GDH, as he was affectionately known by friends and colleagues, records his very first memory as the occasion when, one Guy Fawkes Night, his father let off fireworks and he witnessed ‘a ball of fire going over our house’. This was, he continued, ‘an achievement that seemed to me of worldwide importance’. A later memory was of the time when he and his elder brother, Ivon, witnessed the ascent, to the accompaniment of a brass band, of a passenger-carrying hot-air balloon from a local fairground:




Fascinated, we watched it until it finally disappeared in the far distance and at a great height. Neither Ivon nor I ever forgot that balloon, and we would [often] talk about flying and the practicability of man one day conquering the air.





The de Havillands are a family of Norman descent whose ancestry can be traced back, via a Bailiff of Guernsey – and a prisoner of Napoleon – to the time of William the Conqueror. Young Geoffrey seems not to have been particularly close to either of his parents, however. His father, Charles, a Church of England vicar, who had a pronounced limb length discrepancy necessitating use of a special boot, was an otherwise fine-looking but deeply frustrated man. He had been educated at Merchant Taylors, the famous sixteenth-century public school, and then at Christchurch College, Oxford. Acknowledged as a brilliant sermoniser, the Reverend Charles de Havilland had, for all this, several unfortunate habits including a hot temper, a pathological tendency to hoarding, a misplaced certainty that he would one day write a book that would shake the world, an inadequate fortune (to his way of thinking) and complete faith in the rightness of his opinions.


‘I have found out why we get so little electric light,’ he once announced to his astonished family. It had, he explained, nothing to do with the decrepitude of the oil-fired generator used to power it. The problem was that ‘in some rooms the light bulbs have been taken out of their sockets, and this allows the electricity to stream out of the empty lamp holders’. Alas, there was nothing anyone could do to persuade him otherwise.


On top of these unfortunate characteristics, the Reverend Charles bore a deep resentment towards his wife’s family. The reason for this was the uncomfortable fact that Alice, GDH’s mother, was the one with the money. Moreover, it was money that had been acquired through trade. Grandfather Jason Saunders was a keen hunting man ‘of humble yeoman farmer stock’, who strode about in bowler hat and breeches, wearing a stock pin mounted with a miniature horseshoe surrounding a fox’s head. Although he looked like a caricature of Mr Jorrocks, the fictional Victorian hunting squire, he was nonetheless a man with a keen business sense. Building up the family fortune by founding a removal company in Oxford, he was able to expand greatly his landownership and, in due course, to acquire the imposing manor house at Medley, just over the river from Oxford city’s Port Meadow. Yet, despite Charles having being bailed out frequently by Saunders, he and the rest of the de Havillands looked down on him as their social inferior. Worse, GDH recalled how his father had ‘a strongly held belief that well-off people should be glad to lend him money and not pester him’ for repayment. However, ‘This made for considerable awkwardness when we were sent on errands . . . and told bluntly to pay our bills or get out.’


In spite of the snobbish animosity the de Havillands felt for Alice’s father, Grandfather Saunders was evidently man enough not to allow any feelings he might have had in the matter to intrude on his relationship either with his daughter or his grandchildren, and it was of his time here, at his grandfather’s house, that the young Geoffrey had his fondest childhood memories. It was here, too, that GDH developed his passion for the natural world. At one point, he became fascinated with the pike lurking in the River Thames that ran along the eastern boundary of the farm. When Ivon and his father – on a rare visit – together with Odey, the groom, brought back not one but two of the sinister creatures, young Geoffrey was beside himself with excitement. What was even more thrilling was the fact that poor Odey had been bitten on the thumb when extracting the spinner:




‘Did it bleed?’


‘Yes it did.’ Ivon told me and, when I asked how much, he added ‘About an egg-cup full.’


I looked with awe at Odey’s bandaged thumb, and knew that this was the perfect end to a day’s fishing. Bitten by a pike!





From that day on, the young GDH’s fascination with pike turned to obsession. He read everything he could about them and listened to every exciting story he could persuade people to tell. One of these was told by a local countryman who explained the art of catching them by using a bootlace as a noose and patiently drawing it through the water without touching the fish until, at the right moment, you suddenly draw it tight and flick the creature onto the grassy bank. Using a variation of this method, Geoffrey succeeded in making several catches of his own. It was not only the aquatic life of the farm that inspired him, however. He also took delight in learning the names and calls of all the birds in the nearby woodland such that, in later life, he enjoyed nothing better than the natural history expeditions he and his wife made to Africa. He was an early convert to the concept of shooting wild game with a camera rather than a rifle, though he did on one occasion use a gun. It was an episode which he found ‘so completely distasteful’ that he never did it again.


The budding aircraft designer’s closest relationship during his childhood and after was with Ivon. Together the two of them would build, among other things, working model steam engines and, on one memorable occasion, a homemade artillery piece. This, astonishingly, they used in mock battles against some of the local village lads. A three-foot-long gas pipe mounted on a mail-cart, loaded with saltpetre rammed down with wads of paper it ‘made a terrific roar’ when it went off, though their opponents ‘were not much intimidated – with reason, for the danger was much greater to us than to them’. There was also an elaborate model railway that the brothers built in the garden. But of all their projects, the ‘most interesting, prolonged and expensive experiments in which Ivon and I indulged were with the electrical plant at Crux Easton’ – this being the house to which the family moved when he was twelve, courtesy of Jason Saunders. Clearly worried for his daughter and her young family, now increased to four children, the old man had stumped up the cash for an ‘avowson’ (an ecclesiastical appointment) near Newbury for his improvident son-in-law. Several early attempts to modernise the electrical system brought only modest improvements. Success was eventually achieved with a Crossley oil engine ‘which worked faultlessly, gave us constant electric light and required little attention’. Although it had been, he admitted, quite appallingly expensive, ‘we had at least gained a great deal of pleasure and practical experience’ that would stand them both in good stead in later years.


Unfortunately, the family’s move did little to improve the fraught situation at home and Alice, driven frantic by the permanent embarrassment and frustration caused by her husband’s recklessness with money, rowed often with Charles, suffering, as a result, recurrent bouts of depression and illness. One might have thought that, in light of this unhappiness, Geoffrey might have found respite in his time at St Edward’s School in Oxford where he was sent to board at the age of thirteen. He had enjoyed his prep school – where he won a modest reputation as a slow bowler – but Teddies (as it is still known) he hated.


Despite his obvious bent for engineering, when at seventeen GDH left school – without passing a single exam – he was sent by his father to study with a clergyman in the adjacent county of Gloucestershire, with a view to his entering the church. But there followed an event that was to change the course of his life. He learned that the owners of a local bicycle dealership had acquired two 3½ hp Mercedes Benz motor cars and that these were available for hire with a driver. Together with a friend, he saved enough money for a visit home. ‘It was an epic trip, sustaining speeds on level stretches at anything up to 15 mph . . . ’ he later wrote, tongue-in-cheek. But after ‘that short drive I knew that my future life lay in the world of mechanical travel. The fascination of independently powered and swift transportation from place to place gained a hold which was never to relax through all my working life.’


The church’s loss was aviation’s gain, though to begin with the young man set his sights on the car industry. Thanks again to the generosity of Grandfather Saunders, GDH and his brother were able to buy, second-hand, a two-cylinder, 6 horsepower Panhard-Levassor. This had solid rear wheels of large diameter and smaller front wheels with pneumatic tyres, which kept bursting, and an antediluvian – not to say potentially lethal – starting mechanism that required a pair of tubes to be heated until red hot by means of a Bunsen burner. Physically resembling a sort of conservatory on wheels, the car was already long out of date. But, as with the house electrical system, the vehicle’s main importance was as a test bed for the brothers’ experiments. Because of its marked tendency to topple over given the slightest turn on the steering wheel, they began by lengthening the chassis. Next, they installed magneto ignition. It wasn’t long, however, before it was replaced with a pony trap on account of an incident involving the local coachbuilder, Mr Hamilton:




With his finely chiselled features and long black beard, [Mr Hamilton] looked like one of the Apostles. He certainly needed saintly patience as far as the Panhard and the de Havillands were concerned. I was driving him back to Highclere one day when something went wrong and the car set off at a tangent towards the ditch. I was quite unable to correct the swerve and jammed on the brakes as we struck the verge. Hamilton himself disappeared from the passenger seat beside me and the next I saw of him he was sitting in the hedge facing me.1





By this time, GDH had enrolled as a trainee at the Crystal Palace School of Engineering, while Ivon was a student apprentice at Brush Electrical Engineering in Loughborough. The two brothers now embarked on a project to build a steam-powered racing car. Working in their spare time and holidays, and ‘with the headlong exuberance of youth and inexperience’, they turned the stable block into a workshop fitted with two lathes, a planing machine, drilling equipment and a separate oil generator for power. Alas, despite backing from a wealthy enthusiast, their money ran out before the car could be completed and they were forced to attend the event they had been convinced they were going to win – the 1903 Gordon Bennett Cup – as mere spectators.


Next, GDH set about designing and building a motorcycle engine in the workshop at the Crystal Palace school. Bringing it home to Crux Easton, he fitted his engine to a frame and added a petrol tank. Unfortunately, the leather belt drive he had ordered was slow in coming and impatience got the better of him. Installing a piece of tarred rope in its place, he wheeled the contraption to the top of the hill and set off down it. First the rope fell off. Then the brakes failed. The rider was left to choose between a wall at the bottom and the jagged flint of the ‘road’ itself. Choosing the latter, GDH was rewarded with deep gashes to his knees and hands. Undeterred, he continued to develop the motorcycle engine in his free time, eventually selling the drawings and patterns for the princely sum of £5. It became the basis of the Blackburne motorcycle range.


His first salaried job was with a company that manufactured steam engines but it did not take de Havilland long to realise that neither his nor the future lay in steam. After two years, he left to join the Wolseley Tool and Motor Car Company in Birmingham as a thirty-shilling-a-week draughtsman. He found the work, under ‘harsh orders and a harsh régime’ dull and uninspiring and resigned after only a year with ‘no idea where I would go or exactly what I would do. All I knew for certain was that I had to be my own master and do exciting creative work. Whatever it was, I was sure I could make a success of it.’


At the time, it still looked as if the young man would remain within the car industry. Ivon was by now working for Iris and had designed their entry for the second ever British Motor Show in 1905. Featuring a shaft drive and an aesthetically pleasing diamond-shaped radiator, the car boasted many novel features, including a cleverly sprung chassis. It was with immense pride that GDH stood in for his older brother on the trade stand when Ivon was forced to miss the show due to a bout of ill health. Pride turned to grief, however, when Ivon took a turn for the worse. A bad cold developed into pneumonia and, this being long before the advent of penicillin, he died before the year was out.


It was a cruel loss, not just because the two young men were so close but also because it was clear they were destined to do great things together. They had recently developed a mutual interest in aviation and it seems likely that they would quickly have become rivals to the Wright brothers. As it was, GDH went to work for another automotive company – a bus manufacturer in Walthamstow – for two more years before he finally determined to go cap in hand to Grandfather Saunders and ask for a sum to enable him to design and build an aeroplane.


‘It was in the evening and he was in the sitting-room, wearing his usual smoking jacket. He had a long cigar alight, and beside him there was a whisky decanter and a glass on a silver tray.’ They began by talking about buses and old Saunders ventured his opinion that they would surely soon be coming to Oxford:




‘They’ll have to come to Oxford one day,’ I said in agreement and, taking this as my cue, went on rapidly. ‘But I’ve now got a far greater interest than buses. It’s flying. That’s what I’m keen to get into now. In fact, I’m so keen to design and build one, I’m trying to find someone to put up the money . . . ’


My grandfather looked at me in silence for some seconds. At last he asked me, ‘You really think you know enough about it to build a flying machine?’


‘Yes, I’m certain I do.’


There was another silence while my grandfather gave undivided attention to the length of ash hanging precariously at the end of his cigar. ‘I intended leaving you a thousand pounds,’ he said to me at last. ‘But if you prefer to have it now, you can.’





This was beyond the young man’s wildest expectations.




I hardly knew what to say. But I did manage to thank him, probably quite inadequately, before I left – my mind already hard at work dreaming and planning the future.





To get an idea of the value of £1,000 in 1908 in comparison with its value today, it is no use simply adjusting for inflation. Instead, you have to ask yourself what it would cost to buy today what it could back then. In GDH’s case, he was able to pay an engineering assistant, his friend Frank Hearle (later, both company managing director and his brother-in-law; Hearle married GDH’s sister, Ione, a fiery socialist), a living wage. In addition, his grandfather’s money allowed him to pay himself a modest salary – needed because he was by now courting and in 1909 married Louie (née Thomas, his younger brother’s governess) – to run a car and to buy the machinery necessary to fit out a workshop, together with materials for not one but two prototypes (including an engine of his own design built for him by Iris, his late brother’s firm, for £250), to rent a drawing office and a workshop (the latter in Fulham – he was still living in London at the time) and, the following year, to take on an apprentice and then buy a hangar and workshop near his father’s house from the future Lord Brabazon (himself an early aviator). This was at Seven Barrows, an area of gently sloping downland adjacent to the modern A34 (where a blue plaque on the verge honours de Havilland). The start-up costs of such an enterprise today would run far into seven figures – not including the funds required for negotiating with the Civil Aviation Authority and its engineers and inspectors.2


Fortunately for de Havilland, the demands of bureaucracy were then non-existent and he was able to proceed purely according to the dictates of his own judgement. Almost at once, he co-opted Louie into the workforce. She was put in charge of the fabric, which, using an ordinary hand-turned Singer sewing machine, she stitched together ready for covering the flying surfaces. Once in place, it would be painted with dope – a liquid cellulose substance that, when dry, shrinks the fabric drum-tight. By December 1909, the very first de Havilland aircraft began its taxying trials, during which seemingly endless snags and disappointments manifested themselves. A gearbox disintegrated, the propshaft bent, the carburettor needed replacing. Working ‘day after day and often late into the night’, GDH and Hearle began to wonder whether they would ever get their creation airborne. When at last they were ready to try for an actual take-off, they found the weather against them. Eventually, though, they did manage some actual trial runs when the wind was just right and everything seemed set. Unfortunately, the aeroplane resolutely refused to leave the ground. Naturally, the two men refused to give up. They would simply have to find a means of going faster. This they did by going further and further uphill to begin the take-off run.


At last, on a date later in December 1909 which GDH did not record, with Hearle, his father and his surviving brother, Hereward, as witnesses, on a perfect winter’s day – a light breeze barely ruffled the handkerchief held in his outstretched hand – the twenty-eight-year-old designer started his engine, climbed into the crude basket that passed for a cockpit and began his fateful journey. At this time, only a handful of controlled flights had been successfully completed on British soil. In April of that year, the future Lord Brabazon had become the first ever Englishman to fly a heavier-than-air machine, completing a distance of all of 450 feet. In July, Alliott Verdun Roe flew the first aeroplane of British design (the Americans and French were at this time ahead of the field) for just a hundred feet. During that summer, the first attempt to fly the Channel was made, though engine trouble brought it to a watery end. In the intervening short period, much progress had been made, but if de Havilland was successful, his would be only the second aircraft of British design and manufacture to accomplish humankind’s oldest dream.


Turning the flimsy contraption round, with Hearle guiding the wing-tip, GDH eased the throttle forward until it was fully open and he was hurtling downhill, faster than he ever had before. This was the moment! Hauling back hard on the control column, the aircraft leapt almost vertically into the air and—


Disaster. The piano-wire rigging wires ripped out of their fittings, the woodwork snapped, the main-spar splintered, the wing fabric tore as the whole contraption folded and fell heavily to the ground.


Stunned and rising unsteadily to his feet to climb out, de Havilland was struck on the arm by a still-rotating propeller blade just as his father retreated from the scene, speechless with shock.


At once realising his mistake – in his determination to get airborne he had pulled back too hard, causing an overload of the structure – GDH wasted no time in arranging transport of all reusable parts (luckily this included the engine) back to the Fulham workshop. He and Hearle were completely certain that they would soon be back and that next time they would be successful.


Marvellous to relate, even at this late stage, de Havilland had yet to see an actual aeroplane in flight. It was not until April 1910 that he did so. Arriving at 5 a.m., he was just in time to watch the rather uncertain take-off of Claude Grahame-White in his attempt on the Daily Mail’s astonishing £10,000 prize for the first flight between London and Manchester – to be completed within twenty-four hours and with no more than two landings. Alas for Grahame-White, on the final leg of the journey, with fewer than 70 miles to go, engine trouble forced him down and, though the problem was put right, and repairs made to his undercarriage, high winds prevented onward travel and he was forced to abandon the attempt.


As GDH was later to recall, watching the intrepid aviator take off for his distant objective was a ‘thrilling sight’. Unfortunately, it did not yield ‘any practical hints on how to get an aircraft into the air’ and it was almost three months before he was satisfied with the second iteration of his own design. One major modification was the reconfiguration of the engine which now sat in-line driving a single propeller in place of two. Other developments included the use of a pair of bicycle wheels and a tailskid for the undercarriage, while the overall structure was made ‘simpler, lighter and more robust’.


By the summer of 1910, they were ready to begin taxy trials again. Making minor adjustments after almost every run as he tried out each of the controls, within three weeks GDH was confident enough to make another concerted attempt at becoming airborne. This time, he was content to ease the machine off the ground just a matter of inches – which he succeeded in doing over a distance of about twenty yards. It was hardly Icarus redux. Yet de Havilland counted this among his greatest triumphs. He knew that if he could sustain flight at six inches above ground, ‘there was no reason why, with equal ease, I should not rise to six hundred feet – so long as I took things slowly and carefully’.


Caution was doubly well-advised. Not only did de Havilland wish to keep himself out of hospital, but Grandfather Saunders’ funds were getting worryingly low. If he crashed again, that would be the end of his career even if he himself survived.


It was, however, not very many days before he daringly took the craft right up into the air, to ‘an appalling height’ from which he could no longer land straight ahead, and making his first gentle turn, landed back in the field from which he had set out. This was the moment of real triumph. Thereafter, progress came in ever more confident stages – to the point where heights of a hundred feet and figure of eight turns became commonplace.


Meanwhile Louie, despite her work at the sewing machine, remained somewhat hesitant about the project. Fortunately, GDH managed to persuade her to come down from London to lodge with his parents in the country. It was there that she bore their first child, also named Geoffrey, and it was where, just eight weeks later, that, babe in arms, she climbed gamely aboard for a first flight – only the second British female to take to the air and her baby, at that time, almost certainly the youngest passenger in the world.


Throughout the spring and summer of 1911, de Havilland continued to fly and modify his aircraft. But, by now, he really was out of cash. What was he to do? His achievement was highly impressive but no one at the time seriously thought that powered flight had much practical use. The government of the day thought the proven concept of lighter-than-air craft a more promising avenue for research. Although Louis Blériot had by this time achieved the first Channel crossing, of much greater interest and concern to the War Office was the recent ten-hour flight, over 240 miles, of a Zeppelin airship in Germany.


It was by chance that GDH met with an old colleague at that year’s Motor Show. When he explained that he was at a bit of a loss, the friend, who was now working at the government’s Army Balloon Factory in Farnborough, said that he would have a word with his new boss who was much more sympathetic to the aeroplane than his predecessor had been. The upshot was that following a promising interview and a nail-biting wait of several weeks, de Havilland was the recipient of a cheque of £400 for his aeroplane and the offer of a job for both himself and Frank Hearle (‘I could not leave him out’).


With what pride he wrote to his grandfather offering to pay back part of the original gift, we can only guess.


‘You keep it, my boy,’ the old man replied. ‘You’ll need it later.’ He was right, of course. There were to be several times during the next decade and a half when de Havilland found himself on the brink again.


Although the job was a godsend, GDH now found himself part of a typically dysfunctional government agency. He and Hearle with their newfangled contraptions were regarded as upstarts who would presumably soon go the way of the previous in-house designer, the aristocratic J. W. Dunne, who disappeared as a result of budget cuts. According to de Havilland, Dunne deserved better. His swept-wing design for the Factory did, in fact, enjoy some success as a float-plane operated by the American army and his experiments with aircraft stability yielded valuable research data. At a demonstration, Orville Wright himself was astonished to see Dunne take his hands off the controls and write notes while actually in flight. Unfortunately, ill health precluded Dunne’s continued career in aviation and he retired to write books. His first, Sunshine and the Dry Fly, is regarded as a classic by trout fishers, while his second, An Experiment with Time, which the more down to earth de Havilland described as a ‘curious and puzzling work’, to this day retains cult status with students of the supernatural.


The Army Balloon Factory’s experiments with lighter-than-air craft continued alongside de Havilland’s re-established heavier-than-air research department. Unfortunately, they were not notably successful. One airship suffered an accident in its shed before it could be flown. When eventually it did take to the air, its main spar broke and it took on a V-shape as it floated gently and ignominiously to the ground. On another occasion, having made some unsteady circuits of the testing ground, the wind speed rose, the pilot lost control and it ended up draped over a private house.


Following these embarrassments, it did not take long from the initial axeing – eighteen months, to be exact – to restoration of the heavier-than-air budget and, with it, a change of name. The Army Balloon Factory became the Royal Aircraft Factory. In the meantime, de Havilland wasted no time in designing a follow-up to his ‘Number Two’ aeroplane, as he called it. This was another pusher (that is to say, the engine was mounted behind the cockpit such that the propeller pushed the aircraft along), officially designated the FE2, in which he successfully demonstrated a one-hundred-mile round trip culminating in a ‘dead-stick’ (that is, an engine-off) landing, gliding down from 2,000 feet.


Unfortunately, the name change to the Royal Aircraft Factory was soon rendered a misnomer. Vested interests within private industry ensured – on grounds of unfair competition – that the government was not permitted actually to manufacture aircraft, only to repair and restore them. It was thus under increasingly awkward conditions that de Havilland continued his work for the government. In spite of this, he did manage to create, test-fly and develop what proved to be, for its time, an outstanding aircraft, the BE2. With its tractor engine (in front of the pilot, pulling the aeroplane along), it had a performance superior to its competitors and, with de Havilland himself at the controls, set an altitude record of over 10,500 feet, which stood for almost two years. First flown in February 1912, the aircraft is a clear progenitor of the Moth with its braced biplane structure and the graceful de Havilland tail. Altogether, 3,500 of the type were produced – in five different variants, ranging from ‘A’ to ‘E’ – reflecting its employment in a number of different roles, including as an artillery spotter, as reconnaissance aircraft, as a trainer and even as a fighter forming the backbone of the Royal Flying Corps (RFC) during the first year of the war. Unfortunately, when, in early 1915, the Fokker Eindecker appeared with an engine-synchronised interrupter gear that enabled its machine gun to be fired ‘through’ the propeller, the BE2, like the RFC itself, found itself hopelessly outgunned.


Another (very attractive) design produced by de Havilland just before the war and intended as a ‘scout’ or single-seat fighter aircraft, was his SE series. Although he crashed the SE1, breaking his jaw in the process, with a modified elevator and rudder the aeroplane impressed the RFC and saw service at the outbreak of war when, for a time, it was able to outpace anything the enemy had to offer. The SE1’s one drawback was, of course, its inability to fire its armament forward.


As war loomed, de Havilland’s work at the Royal Aircraft Factory was increasingly resented by others working in the fledgling field of aircraft design and development. Whereas he had a large budget, a ready-made and highly skilled workforce to call on and whatever materials he required, the privateers had to raise their own funds, train their workforce and pay for everything themselves. The most vocal opponent of state-subsidised research and development was Noel Pemberton Billing, at one time a professional boxer, who had made a £500 bet with Frederick Handley Page, the industrialist and designer of the first successful long-range bomber, that he could learn to fly within twenty-four hours. Having won the bet, Pemberton Billing founded his own aircraft company. At once, he began to lobby against the Royal Aircraft Factory in a campaign that, with surprising ease, succeeded in ousting the then superintendent of the Factory, eventually causing it to be abolished altogether.


Pemberton Billing was subsequently rewarded for his defence of free enterprise when he sold his company for a good sum, even though none of its products were notably successful. Using the proceeds to propel him into politics, he also founded his own magazine, The Imperialist, in which to disseminate his decidedly idiosyncratic theories. He then won a seat at the 1916 general election and was soon distinguishing himself by challenging a fellow MP to a fight in the boxing ring. This was in 1917. A year later, he was ejected from the House, feet-first, following a dispute over parliamentary procedure. But it was his magazine that caused the greatest controversy.


A century later, the libel case in which he became involved looks eerily reminiscent of the American QAnon conspiracy movement. In various articles, Pemberton Billing alleged that German agents, mainly Jews, were blackmailing ‘47,000 highly-placed British perverts’ to ‘propagate evils which all decent men thought had perished in Sodom and Lesbia’. Worse, the Kaiser knew the name of a vast number of high-ranking homosexuals who were listed in the so-called Berlin Black Book of the Mbret (king) of Albania. This supposed document was alleged to give details of how these agents planned to exterminate ‘the manhood of Britain’ by luring them into unnatural acts through the ‘defloration of children’ and other obscenities. As if this were not enough, Pemberton Billing also put his name to an article entitled ‘The Cult of the Clitoris’ which insinuated that the popular actress, Maud Allan, was in league with the conspirators. Allan sued, naturally enough, but, such was the temper of the age, she lost.


GDH’s description of Pemberton Billing as ‘an eccentric and unreliable person’ was mild in the extreme. Yet it is clear that the better man was not given to resentment. Instead of wanting to settle scores, GDH was far more concerned with getting on with the business of developing aircraft which could take on the German air force. However, as a result of Pemberton Billing’s campaign, just weeks before the outbreak of war, Geoffrey de Havilland found himself without a job.
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Captain


Fortunately, both for the war effort and for the man himself, as soon as word got out that he was available, Geoffrey de Havilland was offered the job of chief designer at the recently founded Aircraft Manufacturing Company (or Airco as it was more generally known). Headed by George Holt Thomas, Airco was to become, by the end of the war, the largest aircraft producer in the world. ‘Brilliantly clever as well as kind and likeable’, according to GDH, Holt Thomas ‘possessed a knowledge of business only equalled by his ignorance of engineering’.1 It was the ideal partnership. Holt Thomas had been quick to recognise the enormous potential of heavier-than-air craft and had sponsored the eventual winning entry of the Daily Mail’s London to Manchester air race (Claude Grahame-White whom GDH had seen take-off was, in the end, beaten by Louis Paulhan), and it seems likely that Holt had had his eye on de Havilland for a long time. In any case, it was an inspired move. De Havilland’s design genius was responsible for four of the most successful of the war years and, at its end, almost a quarter of the 20,890 in the RAF’s inventory were de Havilland progeny – not to mention the thousands more within those of allied air forces – all of them built by Airco and its subsidiaries. Personally, Holt Thomas made out like the proverbial bandit.


For a moment, however, it looked as though war service would intervene. Although too old to fight, as he was already on the Royal Flying Corps reserve, GDH was immediately ordered into uniform and, within a week of Britain declaring war, found himself posted to Montrose on the east coast of Scotland. For the next fortnight, he flew a Blériot monoplane on submarine patrols along the coast down to the Firth of Forth – despite the fact that he and his co-spotters had only the haziest idea how to distinguish between an allied and an enemy vessel. Moreover, the fact was,  without a radio – a wireless apparatus one should say – the soonest he could report any sighting would be when he landed back at base, by which time, of course, the sub could have got up to all manner of no good. Fortunately, this pointless squandering of de Havilland’s talents was quickly recognised and, before the end of the month, he had returned to Farnborough.


Back at his desk, the first de Havilland creation for Airco, was the DH1, a two-seat armed reconnaissance machine of pusher configuration. The pilot sat in the rear while the observer/gunner sat in a nacelle at the front. Frustratingly, development of the type was hindered by lack of availability of the 120 hp Beardmore engine that it was designed to use. In the meantime, it had to get along with just the 70 hp provided by the default motor (a Renault V8 which was itself the progenitor of the de Havilland Gipsy series). His next design was the first effective counter to the Fokker Scourge, the DH2.*


Like its predecessor – which, by dint of working round the clock was rushed into service in July 1915 – the DH2 was a pusher. But rather than have a crew of two, this was a single-seat, high-speed ‘scout’. Again, the pilot sat in a nacelle forward of both wings and engine. This gave him an unrestricted field of fire to his front, though operating the gun with its swivel mounting while at the same time flying the aeroplane proved demanding, to say the least. But the aeroplane was fast, manoeuvrable and had an outstanding rate of climb – even if it was in turn soon outclassed by German aircraft such as the Albatros. That said, even against the Albatros it was capable of holding its own. On one famous occasion, the Germans’ leading ace of the day, Oswald Boelcke – author of the first ever manual of air combat tactics, the Dicta Boelcke – was pressing an attack on a DH2 from 24 Squadron when the undercarriage of his best friend and fellow ace, Erwin Boehme, caught him a glancing blow. This caused a tear in the fabric of one of the upper wings of his aircraft. Within seconds, the whole surface was denuded of its covering, rendering the Albatros uncontrollable and resulting in a fatal crash. Meanwhile, the DH2 escaped – as did that of another member of the squadron attacked by Manfred von Richthofen in the same encounter.


Certainly the most important of de Havilland’s war designs was his DH4 day bomber. Writing to GDH in October 1916 when the aeroplane was still in early development, the future Lord Trenchard, noted how ‘it is very quick in turns, with very sensitive fore and aft controls . . . I think it will be a first rate machine’. With a performance far superior to that of any other single aircraft of the time, the DH4 was capable of speeds of up to 140 mph and had a matchless climb performance. Highly effective in its role as a bomber, it was also widely used for reconnaissance. Nothing the enemy had could touch it.


Although de Havilland would have liked to do all the test-flying himself, by this time he had to delegate responsibility for this work to a third party, engaging the well-known B. C. Hucks to fulfil the role. Hucks was the first Englishman to have looped the loop. He was also – more soberly – the first to have received a radio message while airborne (in 1911). Aside from his piloting skills, Hucks was also responsible for designing and developing a mechanical starter for larger aero-engines which could not be hand-swung. This remained in wide use until the 1930s when self-starters became standard.
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